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(Cage called)

THE COURT: If it's ckay with all of you, I think we

1
should start by Ms. Murray swearing in Mr. El Bahnasawy. '

{(Defendant sworn)
THE COURT: Mr. El Bahnasawy, you understand that

having been sworn, and, answering under oath, your answers tof

my questions must be truthful and could subject you to the i
criminal penalties of perjury or of making falsge statement if -
you do not anéwer truthfully?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: There are & series of doéuments that we
have here., First of all, maybe we should start with the
document. called "Noticde Of Intent To File An Information.
It's dated October 13, and it's sigﬁed by the government and
Ms. Shroff and Mr. El Bahnasawy, I believe -- or is it just
you, Mg. shroff, on behalf of Mr. El Bahnasawy? Is that both
of yvour signatures?

MS. SHROFF: I think it's just counsel's signature.

THE COURT: . Okay.

I'm going fo hand it back to you. Ig it both of you?
Iz that intended to be both defense counsel?

M8. SHROFF: Yes, your Honor.

THﬁ COURT: I gotcha.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300
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Then I have a document that is signed by

Mr. Bl Bahnasawy and counsel. That is a document called %
. |

nwaiver Of Indictment.! And in that document, Mr. El Bahnasaﬁy.

waives his right to be prosecuted pursuant to an indictment and.

i
t

consents to proceeding by information instead of indictment.

“Ig that your understanding, Ms. Shroff, of that E

document, waiver of indictment?

MS. SHROFF: Yeg, your Honor.

THE COURT: Did you understand and discuss that,
Mr. El Bahnagawy, with Ms. Shroff before you sgigned it?

THE DEFENDANT: With Clay.

THE COURT: Could you for the record state your full
name. |

| MR. KAMINSKY: Yes, your Honor. Clay Kaminsky.

THE COURT: And, Clay Kaminsky, you are co-counsel
with Ms. sShroff to Mr. El Bahnasawy?

MR. KAMINSKY: That's correct, your Homor; also with
the Federal Defenders.

THE COURT: Great.

And you understand the implications, Mr. El Bahnasawy,
do you, having discussed that with Mr. Kaminsky, the
implications of walving your right to an indictment?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, I -~ whichlone is that?

THE COURT: I've got to hear you.

THE DEFENDANT: Oh, ves, yes.

SODTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: You do? Okay.
Then the third document that I have is called "Seale@

Superseding Information.” I want to make sure, first of all,

that counsel has received that information. : !;

MS, SHROFF: We have, your Honor.

1

§! .

M3. SHROFF: We did, your Homor!:

THE -COURT: Did you want me to read it at this time?:

Mé. SHROFF: Mr. El Bahnasawy does not wish it to be
read out loud to him in court.

THE COURT: In terms of a plea, I think that what
we're here about today indicates that Mr. ELl Bahnasawy wishes
to en&er a plea of guilty, is that right, to that document?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

.TﬂE COTRT: And, Ms. Shroff, could you confirm that?

MS. SHROFF: I do confirm that, your Honor.

Mr. El Bahnasawy has informed us that he wishes to withdraw his

!

previously entﬁred plea of nmot guilty and enter a plea of
l/ '

guilty

THE COURT: Right. But just sort of technically, just

with respect to the sguperseding information, there is no plea
before today's plea of guilty; is that right?

MS. SHROFF: ©Not ag to the superseding information,

SOUTHERN DISTRICYT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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your Honor, just to the original indictment.

TEE COURT: Right, okay.

Then the next document is, of course, the plea |

|
1

agreement. It's dated October 11, 2016, on the front page and l

appears to be signed and dated by Mr. El Bahnasawy and also E :

counsel, Ms. Shroff and Mr. Kaminsky, yesterday, October 12,

2016,

S0, first, for counsel: Did you carefully review that.

plea agreement with Mr. ®1 Bahmasawy before you all signed it

,and he signed it as well?

MS. SHROFF: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And, Mr. El Bahnasawy, you went over that
pleé agreement carefully with your attorneys before you signed
it yesterday? .

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Then we have a document called "Advice Of
Rights Form," which is a form that I use in connection with
gullty pleas. This one is signed with todéy's date,

October 13, both by co-defense counsel and Mr. El Bahnasawy.

So, Counsel, first, did you carefully go over the

Advice of Rights Form, which advises people of some of the

rights they will be giving up by pleading guilty, Ms. Shroff or

Mr. Kaminsky?
MR. KAMINSKY: Yes, your Honor, I went over it with
him.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(21.2) 805-0300
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THE COURT: 2And, Mr. El Bahnasawy, you went over tha;
form carefully with Mr. Kaminsky and/or Mg. Shroff befo;e you%
gsigned it?.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. ' | . 1

THE COURT: Ckay.

So, it's clear from these ﬁreliminaxy gquestionsg that
T've asked and these documents, which will be made court
exhibite to today's proceeding, Ms. Shroff and Mr. Keminsky,
that Mr. Fl Bahnasawy wishes to enter a plea of guilty to the
superseding information. Do I understand that coirectly?

MS. SHROFF: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. El Bahnasawy, before I can accept that
plea, ﬁhich is happening in this proceeding, I'm going to ask
you a series of guestions to make sure and to be able to
egtablish thai youw wish to plead guilty and that you do so
voluntarily and knowingly, and because you are guilty, and also
to establish that you know just what rights you'll be giving up
by pleading guilty. ,

So, if you don't understand ény of my guestions or 1f
at any time you wish to consult with counsel for any reason,
please say so, and I will give you as much time as you need to
consult with your attorneys, because it's essential to a wvalid
plea that you understand each question before you answer it.

Is that okay with you?
| THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPCRTERS, P.C.
{212) 805~0300
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COURT: 1I'll just start by asking you again, !

Mr. El Bahnasawy, is it your ‘wish and intention to enter a ?

guilty plea'this afternoon in this proceeding to the

guperseding information? : !

THE
THE
TEHER
THE
THE
THE
THE
THE
remember.
THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

THE

DEFENDANT: Yeg, it dis.

COURT: Could you tell ug your full name.
DEFENDANT: Abdulrahman Bl Bahnasawy.
COURT: And you are ﬁow old?

DEFENDANT: Highteen. |

COURT: And you are a citizen of what country?

DEFENDANT: Canada.

COURT: ‘Were you born in Canada? I don’t

DEFENDANT: No, I'm born in Kuwait.
COURT: And you have lived in Canada for how long?
DEFENDANT: About ten or eleven years.

COURT: How far did you go in school?
DEFENDANT : Until grade 11.
COURT: Was that in Canada or in Kuwait?

DEFENDANT: From grade one was in Kuwait, Canada

was -- like half was in Xuwait and half was in Canada, so grade

one was in Kuwait, in Canada it was from grade two to eight,

and then nine and ten was in Kuwait, and then I went back to

Canada for 11 but I didn't finish 11.

THE

COURT: I see, ckay. So you went back and forth

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) 805-0300
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DEFENDANT: Yes.

COURT: First, from Kuwalt to Canada, and then

from Canada to Kuwait, and then back from Kuwailt to Canada?

THE
THE
Canadian?
TEE
THE
THE
' THE
THE
. THE
THE

THE

DEFENDANT: Yes.

COURT: That's where ydur residence is now, it's

DEFENDANT: Yes.

COURT: Is your family there as well?
DEFENDANT: Yes, it is.

COURT: Which consists of?

DEFENDANT: My dad, ﬁy mom, and my sister.
COURT: The three of them live in Canada?
DEFENDANT: Yes.

COURT: Are you now, or have you recently been,

under the care of a medical doctor? © I think we've discussed

that in previous conferences.

/
I}

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-03G0
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THE COURT: Have you taken any drugs or medicine or
pills or drunk any alcoholic beverages in the past 24 hours? "
. _ -
THE DEFENDANT: No. : L

1

THE COURT: Anything that might affect your answers %of

my questions? | , |
D
THE DEFENDANT: ¥o. -
THE COURT: Or your frame of mind here today in court?
THE DEFENDANT: DNo.
- THE COURT: Sc, I asked this before but I'm going to
ask again: How do you feel today physically?
CTHE DEFENDANT: I feel well.
THE COURT: And wmentally?
.THE DEFENDANT: Also well.
THE COURT: And you understand what ig happening in
this brodeeding here in court ﬁcday( do you?
THE D;éFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Here's a question for the lawyers: Do
either of you -- that is to say, the government or the
defense -~ have any doubts or concerns as to Mr. El Babmasawy's
competence to plead at this time?
MR. TURNER: No, your Honor.
MS8. SHROFE: .No, your Honor.
THE COURT: WNeither do I. Based on the record today,

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P:C-
{212) 805-0300
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including Mr. EL Bahnasawy's answers to my questions, his

testimony, I find that he is competent to plead guilty.

Mr. El Bahnasawy, have you been given a full

opportunity to discusgs all aspects of this case with your
attorneys?

THE DEFeENDANT: Yes. ;

THE COURT: Including possible defenses that you mig%t
have to the charges in the superseding information to which yéu:
have offered to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you fully satisfied with your
counsel 's representation of you? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, 1 am.

THE COURT: That's Ms. Shroff and Mr. Kaminsky?

THE DEFENDANT; Yes.

THE COURT: Are yoﬁ fully satisfied.with the legal
advice that they each have given you?

THE DEFENDAﬁT: Yeg, I am.

THE COURT: Ms. Shroff aﬁd Mr. Kaminsky?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE CQURT: So, now I'm going to explaiﬁ certain
rights that you have and ask some guestions about those.

First, since we have here what's called an
information, we also had what's called a wailver of indictwent
written and I just want to make sure that you and counsel are

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C,
(212) B05-0300
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'
1

waiving indictment. It's obviously clear from these document s
but: just so the record is clesar, Ms. Shroff, you and your
client are waiving indictment? !

MS. SHROFF: We are, your Honor. We're proceeding by
the information. :

THE COURT: And, Mr. Kaminsky, yvou're onboard with
that too?

MR. KAMINSKY: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And, Mr. Bl Bahnasawy, is that your
intention .
eentention here today?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, it is.

THE COURT: And you realize that what that means is,
gimplifying somewhat, but by offering to plead g;ilty to an
information, do you realize that you had the right to have the
evidence in this case underlying the charges bresented to a
grand jury and to héve these grand jurors decide whether there
wés probable cause that you should be charged? Do you realize
that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Do you realige that by signing this waiver
of indictwment, which you've done, you gave up the right and
permitted the government to file this information based only on
the signature of the United States Attorney?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

. THE COURT: Do you understand that you have the right

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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to plead not guilty toddy if you wish?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeg, I do.

THE COURT: Under the Constitution and laws of the |

unlted States, if you plead not guilty, you would be entitled !

to a speedy and public trial by a jury on the charges contained
S

in the superseding information. Do you realize that? !
J

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. i
THE COURT: If you decided to have a trial, at the
trial you would be presumed to be innocent; the government

would be required to prove that you were guilty by competent

evidence and beyond a reasonable doubt before you could be

found guilty.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: A jury would have to agree unanimously
that you were guiltyl Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And you would not have to prove that you
were innocent. Do you realize all of those rights?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Also, at a trial, if you decided to have

one, and at every stage of your case, you would be entitled to

be represented by counsel, as you are today, and have been
throughout these proceedings. And 1f you could not afford
counsel, ome would be appointed at public expense to represent
you. Do you realize that?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B805-0300

13
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: Also, during a trial, if you decided to

have one, the witnegseg for the governuent woulé have to come
to couft and testify in your presence. Do you realize that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: And vour lawyers could crogs-examine the

witnesges for the government. Do you undersﬁand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And they could object to evidence offered
by the government. Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And they could offer evidence and subpoena
witnesses on your behalf. Do you realize that too?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: BAlso, at a trial, if you decided to have
ecne, although you would have the right to testify if you chose
to do so, vou would alsc have the right not to testify, and no
one, including particularly the jury, could draw any inference
or suggestioh of guilt from the fact that you did not testify,
if that's what vou elected to do. Do you realize that?

THE bEFENDAﬁT: Yes. |

THE COURT: Even now, this afternoon, as you are
entering this guilty plea, you still have the right to change
your mind and to plead not guilty and to go to trial on the
charges contained in this superseding information. Do you

SOUTHERN DISTRICY REPCRTERS, P.C.
{212) B05-0300
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understand that?
THE DEFENDANT:‘ Yes.
..THE COURT: If you do plead guilty and if I accept
your guilty plea, then you will give up your xight to have a 1
trial and the other rights that I have been discussing with |
you. Do you understand that? |
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

i
THE COURT: And there won't be any trial, there will |

no trial, but 1!1ll still enter a judgment of guilty against

you. Do you realirze that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeg, I do.

THE COUﬁT: And I will thereafter -- not today,
sometime in the future -- sentence you on the basis of your
plea, after I have considered what we call a preseﬁtence
investigation report, which wili include what's called a
gentencing guldelines analysis and whatever submissions that T
may get from your attorneys and from the government. Do you
understand thatf

THE DEIFENDANT: Yeg.

THE COURT: Some of these questions are a little bit
repetitive but it's worth taking the time and going over them.
You have received a copy of the superseding
information,_which T mentioned earlier, which contains the

charges against you; is-that right?

THE DEFBENDANT: Yes, ves, I.did.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: And yvou discussed fully with youxr coungeﬂ
' !

!

the charges in this superseding information, to which you
intend to plead guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Again, are you fuily satisfied with

Ms. Shroff and Mr. Kaminsky's legal representation of you?’

THRE DE?ENDANT: Yeg, I am.

THE COURT: Are you fully satisfied with the legal
advice that they have given to you?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THEE COURT: So, pbw I'm going to briefly summariée tha
counts in this superseding information. I will themn give
counsel a chance to add to thoge gummaries 1if they wish.

Count One may be characterized as charging him with a
gonspiracy to use a weapon of mass destruction. It says that
from at least in or about eafly 2016, up to and including
May 21, 2016, in the Southern District of New York and
elsewhere; Mr. El Bahnasawy and others, acting without lawful
authority, conspired to use a weapon of mass destruction, in
particular, an explosive bomb and similax device, against
persons and property within the United States.

In addition, within the United States, these features
were part of that conspiracy: Use of the mail and facilities
of interstate~and foreign commerce, including mobile
telephones, were used in furtherance of the offense charged in

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Count One; also, such property was used in an aétivity Ehat %
affects interstate ana foreign commerce, and a perpetrator i
involved in this conspiracy traveled in, and caused another té
travel in, interstate and foreign commerce in furtherance of :
the congpiracy; and, fourgh, the offense and the results of the:

S s

offense would have affected interstate and foreign commerce.
B

%o, that's the summary of Count One. If anybody b
wishes to add -- I should mention that the superseding §‘
information speaks for itself in its entirety. My efforts to'
gummarize them are just that, efforts to summarize, but the
superseding }nformétion in its entirety is incorporated into
this proceeding. But if counsel for the government wants to.
add anything to Count One, I'm happy to hear you.

MR, TURNER: Your Honor, we are prepared, of course,
to set forth the elements of each of the counts, which we --

THE COURT: That will come later.

MR. TURNER: At a later time?

Nothing to add to the Court'!s summary, your Honor.

THE COURT; How about Ms. Shroff?

MS. SHRCFF: No, thank you.

THE COURT: So then let's move on to Count Two.

This is another conspiracy charge, a second
conspiracy, and it's a conspiracy to commit aéts of terrorism
transcending national boundaries. It, in summary, charges
that, from at least In ér about early 2016 up to and including

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C,
{21.2) 805-0300
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i

on or about May 21, 2016, in the Southern District of New Yorﬁ,‘

L

the defendant, Mr. El Bahnasawy, and others conspired in an
offense involving conduct transcending national boundaries.

And they conspired to kill, maim, commit an assault resulting

in serious bodily injury and assault with.a dangerous weapon, !

pexgons within the United States and they conspired to create Fj

gubstantial risk of serious bodily injury to another person bﬁ

destroying and damaging a structure, conveyance and other real '

or personal property within the United States, in viclation of
18, U.S8.C., Section 2332{(a), which describes the use of a

weapon of mass destruction, and also in violation of 18, U.S.C.

‘Section 2332(f), which relates to bombing a place of public use

and public transportation, facilities, and also involved in
this seéond conspiracy, the wail and facilities of interstate
and foreign commerce, including mobiie telephones, which were
used in furtherance of the offense and also the offense and the

results of the offense would have affected intergtate and

¢

So, that's Count Two. If the govermment would care to
add to tﬁat gummary, you're welcome to dé 0.

MR, TURNER: No, your Hounor.

THE COURT: Or the defense?

MS. SHROFF: No, thank you.-

THE COURT: Okay.

Count Three is anoﬁhér congplracy. This one is a

SOUTHERYW DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
' {212) 805-0300
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conspiracy to bomb a place of public use and public *
transportation system. It saye that from in or about early
2016 up to and including on or about May 21, in the Southern
District of New York, the defendant, Mr. FEl Bahnasawy, and Ej

others did knowingly and unlawfully conspire -- by the way, thfef

i

H ]
t

conspiracies I'm talking about today -- they did knowingly ani {
unlawfully conspire to deliver and detonate an explogive or
other lethal device in a place of public use and a public
transportation system with the intent £o cause extensiye
destruction of such place and gystem and with the intent to
cauée death and seriousg bodiliy injury and.where the destruction
wag likely to result in a major economic loss. And the offense
toock place in the United States, and a perpetrator is a
national of another state, and the offense also took place
outside the Unitéd States, and the perpetrator is found in the
United States.

Would vou like to comment or add to Count Three,
gstarting with the government? |

‘MR. TURNER: Nothing to add, your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Shroff?

MS, SHROFF:' No, your Honor. Thank you.

THE COURT: Count Four is another conspiracy,
gunmarized as a consplracy té provide material support to
terrorists. And Count Four says that from at least in or aboup;

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C,
(212) B0O5-0300
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early 2016 up to and including on or about May 21, 2016, in th%’
gouthern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant, R
Mr. El Bahﬁaéawy, and others knowingly and intenﬁionally |
congpired to provide material sﬁpport or regources, as definedi;
in 18, U.S.C., Section 2339A(b) looks like little i in parensﬁ
namely, property services and personnel, including himself, and}
to conceal and disguise the nature, location and source and ‘
ownership of material support and resourcas,‘knowing an& ‘
intending that they were to be used in preparation for, and in
carrying out, a violation of the law, Section 2332a, that I
referred to a minute agé, involving the use of weapons of mass
destruction, and 2332Db, which I referred to a minute ago,
relating to actg of terrorism transcending'naticnal boundaries
ané Section 2332f, boﬁbing a place of public use and public
transportation facilities.

The information goes on to gay, with respect to Count
Four, that it was a part and object of this conspiracy that the
defendant and others would and did knowingly and intentiomally
provide, and attempt to provide, waterial support or resources,
ag defined at 18, United States Code, Section 2339A(b) (1), and
to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source and
ownership of material support and resources knowing and
intending that they were to be used in preparation for, and in

carrying out, a violaticon of the section relating to use of

weapons of mass destruction and the section of the statute

. SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-030C0
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relating to acts of terrorism transcending national boundaries,

\

and the section of the statute relating to bombi;g of places @f
public uge a public transportation. 1

So, that's Count Four. The government is welcome to
add.to that summary if you wish.

MR. TURNER: No, thank‘you, your Honor.

THE COURT: How about the defense?

MS.. SHROFF: No, thank you.

THE COURT: Okay.

Count PFive: I should have mentioned before, there are
geven counte in total but Count Five is not a conspiracy count,
it's what we éall a substantive count or a substantive offense,
and it is the offense of providing material support to
terrorists. It says, in summary, that from at least in or
about early 2016, up to and including in or about May 21, 2016;
Mr. EliBahnasawy did kpowingly and.intentiona;ly provide
material support or resources and concealed and disguised the
nature, locatiqn; source and cwnership of material support and
resources, knowing and intending that they were to be used in

preparation for, and in carrying out, a violation of the

‘section of law I referred to before involving the use of

weapons: of mase destruction and the other section involving
acts of terrorism transcending national boundaries and the
section of the law, Section 2532f, relating to bombing of
places of public use and public transportation, which fall

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) B05-0300
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Anybody want to add to the description the summary ; _

deséription of Count Five? : -

MR. TURNER: No, your Honor.
QS. SHROFF: No, thank you.
THE COURT: Okay. ;

Count Six is another congpilracy count. It could be :
described as conspiracy to provide material suppoxrt and ;
resources to desgignated foreign terrorist organization. Count
Six'says that from at least in or about early 2016 up to and
including on or about May 21, 2016, in the Southern District of
New York, Mr. Rl Bahnasawy, together with others known and
unknown, did knowingly and intentionall? conspife to provide
material support or resources to a foreign terrorist
orgénization, namely, TSIL, I-8-I-I, which is shorthand for
Islamic State of Irag and the Levant, L-e-v-a-n-t, which
organization has been designated by the Secretary of State as a
foreign terrorist organization since 2004, and is currently
designated as such.

With respect to this conspiracy, the information says
that a part and object of the conspiracy was that the defendant
would and did knowingly and intentionally provide, and attempt
to ﬁrovide, ISIDL with material support or resources, knowing
that ISIL was a designated foreign terrorist organization and
that iSIL engages and has engaged in terrorist activity and

SOQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERI, P.C.
(212} B05-0300
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-
also that ISIL engages and has engaged in terrorism. And the | .

offense occurred, in whole or in part, in the United States and.

gsecond the offense occurred in and affecting interstate and E
i
foreign commerce.

Before we get to Count Seven, which is the last coun@
in the information, if counsel wish to add anything to Count i
Six, they may. 1
MR. TURNER: No, your Honor. |

MS. SHROFF: No, thank you.

THE COURT: WNo? Okay.

Finally, we come to the last count, Count Seven. This
is not a conspiracy either. This is, again, a Sugstantive
charge, a substantive count, and the offense ié providing
material support and resources to a designated foreign
terrorist organization. As contrasted, again, with the
conspiracy to do that, this is the substantive count actuaily
of doing that.

It says that from at least in or about early 2016 up
to and includiﬁg in or about May 21, 2016, in the Southern
District of New York, Mr. El Bahnasawy did knowingly and
inteﬁtionally provide and attempt to provide material support
or resources to a foreign terrorist organization, namely, ISIL.
And IS8T, as we said before, has been designated by the
Secretary of State as a foreign terrorist organiéation since
2004 and is currently designated as such. And he did so -

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(z12) 805-0300
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that is to say Mr. El Bahnasawy -- kaowing that ISIL was a
designated foreigm terrorist organization and that ISIL

engages, and has engaged, in terrorist activities and knowing

. |
also that ISIL engages, and has engaged, in terrorism, and al%o;

that the offense occurred, in whole or in part, within the
United States, and the offense occurred in and affected

intergtate and foreign commerce.

24

]
|
g
{
|
!
i
{
:
i

i

And then the count gives this example: In the to wib

portion of the count, it says, "The defendant participated im

the planning and preparation for terrorist attacks against New

York City for which he caused materials to be shipped in
interstate commerce and for which he traveled from Canada to
the State of New Jersey."

So that's Count Seven. If the government wishes to
supplement that suﬁmary, they may well do so.

MR; TURNER: No, your Honor.

THRE COURT: How about defense?

MS. SHROFF: No, thank you.

THE CCURT: Okay.

So, now, Mr. El Bahnasawy, in order to have a valid
plea, you need to understand what are the potential maximum
gentences that could be imposed against you for these various
seven crimes or counts. Some can be'put togeéher becaus=e the
maximum 1s the same fox Counts One, Two and Three. Eadh of
those counts carries a maximum term of lwprisonment of life

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
) (212) 805-0300
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imprisonment. Do you realize that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes. . %
THE COURT: Bach of those three counts carries a
maximum terwm of supervised release and the maximum term for
each of those counts is lifetime supervised release. Do you
realize that?
i
THE DEFENDANT: Yes. E
|
THE COURT: And each of those three counts carries a;
maximum fine, which is the greatest of §250,000 or twice the
g?dSS pecuniary gain derived frow the crime or twice the gross
pecuniary loss to persons other than yourself resulting from
the offense. Do you realize that that maximum fine applies to-
Counts One, Two and Three?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Do you realize also that each of those
counts -- one, two and three -- cérries along with it a §100
gpecial assegsment?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Then let's turn to Counts Four and Five.
They have the same maximum penalties, as follows: Count Four
and Five have a maximum term of imprisoqment gach of 15 years
of imprisonment. Do ydu understand that?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: And they each have a maximum term of
supervised release, which is lifetime supervision. Do you

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300




D

Case 1:16-cr-00376-RMB Doc #: 47 Filed 10/06/17 Page 26 of 49 Page ID #: 255

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
1é
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

. 26
XGADKELEP SEALED -- DC NOT DOCKET

realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: And they also have the maximum f£ine whicﬂ

ig the greatest of $250,000 or twice the gross pecuniary gain

derived frowm the offense or twice the gross pecuniary loss tog

persons other than yourself as a result of the offense. Do yoh'

realize that? ' g

THE DEFENDAN&: Yesg. E

THE COURT; And then each of those two counts, Counts
Four anthive, has a $100 special assessment attached to it.
Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Then, burning to the last two counts,
Counts 8ix and Seven, they each have a maximum term of
imprisonment of 20 yearsg. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: They each have a maximum term of
supervised release which is lifetime. Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

- THE COURT: And they each have a maximum f£ine, again,
which is the greatest of $250,000 or twice the gross pecuniary
gain derived from the offense or twice the gross pecuniary loss
to persons other than yourself. Do you realize that? '

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: Do you also realize that Counts Six and

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) B0OS5-0300
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Seven also carry with them each a $100 special agsessment?’

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So you realize then, do you, that you

impriéonment?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: And lifetime supervision?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes. ' ;
CTHRE COURT: And total special assessments of §700, do
you realize that? |
TH DEFENbANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that a felony

adjudication -- which, each one of these seven countg is a
separate felony -- could result in your being deprived of
certain rights? These are actually rights of citizenship -- so

I'm not sure they apply to you anyway because you're a citizen

of Canada -- that is, the right to vote, the right to hold

public office, the right to serve on a jury, and the right to

possess a Lirearm.

I don‘£ think those rights-adhere to non-U. 8.
citizens: Does anybody know the answer to that? I think they
apply to American citizens, right, and not Canadiang?

| MR. TURNER: That would aiso be ocur understanding,
your Honor, and in an abundance of caution, we do think it
probably makes gense to go through those anyway.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) BO05-0300
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_ [
TﬁE COURT: Okay. %.

: |
Then I'm asking that question, Mr. El Bahnasawy: Yoﬁi:
realize that, to the extent you have-these rights, they would |-
be lost as a result of your being convicted by pleading guiity"
to any of f@ese and certainly to all of thése'felony counts. :
that I havegsummarized? Do you realize that? ' i’
THE DEFENDANT: Yes. i

.THE COURT: Is this a case that iﬁvolves restitution

in any way? ;

THE COURT: Then I'm golng Eo ask you,
Mr. El Béhnasawy: Do you understand.that I may order you to
pay restitution to any victimé at the time of sentencing?. You
realize that?

THE DﬁFENDANT:- Yest

TEE CSURT: Do you understand, further,'that there is
no parcle ip the federal system, which is where we are? 'Unlike
the state system, which has in some instances a parole feature,
there is no parole'from the federal gystem, which is where we
are. Do you realize that? |

MS. SHROTF: Your Honor, may I just have a second?

THE COUGRT: Yes.

SOUTHERY DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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{(Pause)

THE DEPFENDANT: Yes, I understand. !

_THE COURT: You understand that? Okay.

T mentioned this a few minutes ago very briefly but |
the concept here is that in addition to incarceration, you
could be subject to some period of superv;sed release followingi
incarceration. Do you understand that? i

THE DEFENDANT: 7Yes.

THIS éOURT: Do you realige that with respect to
superviged release, there are undoubtedly, 1f there were sucﬁ a
regime of supervision put in place, there would be terms and
conditions attached and that if yéu failed to comply with those
terms and conditions, you could, following a subsequent
hearing, be returned to prison? Do you realize that?

THE, DEFENDANT: Yes.

" THE COURT: Do you realize that such a hearing would
be without é jury, just before we as the sentencing judge? Do
you realigze that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you undergtand that, being a non-U.S.
¢itizen, you may be subject to depbrtation following vyour
conviction here?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, I réalize.

THE COURT: Are you currently serving any other
sentences, either in state courts, from state courts, or from

SOUTHERN DISTRICY REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300




i

Case 1:16-cr-00376-RMB Doc #: 47 Filed 10/06/17 Page 30 of 49 Page ID #: 259

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

22

23

24

25

any crime?

30

" XGADKELBP SEAT.ED -- DO NOT DOCKET

federal courts?
THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Being prosecuted in any other courts for

THE DEFENDANT: No.

' THE COURT: Let me go over the factors that I will

consider at sentencing under a statute that's referred to as
18, United Stateé Code, Section73553(a). That i1g to say that
in my endeavor to come up with a fair and reascnable sentence,
T lock at that and evaluate the factors and objectives of that
gtatute, and they include the following: The nature and the
circumstances of the offense or crimes; . and your history and
oharécteristics; and also the need for such a gentence imposed '
to reflect thé'sariouSness of the crimes; to promote respect
for the law; to provide a just punishment for these crimes; to
afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; to protect the
public from furfhar crimes; to provide you with needed
educational or vocatiocnal training or medical care or other
correctional treatment in the most effective manner.

In doing all that, I will look at the kinds oé
sentences available, the kinds of sentence and the sentencing
range @Stabiish@d in the United States SBentencing Guidelines;
I'1ll look at any policy statements issued by the United States
Sentencing Commisgion; I'll seek to avoid unwarranted sentence
disparities among similarly situated defendants; and, lastly, T

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-D300
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will provide, as appropriate, for restitution.

|
" Ms. Shroff, have you, had discussions, preliminary ag |
i

they may have been, with Mr. HEl Bahnasawy about gentencing and -

about how one goes about sentencing in federal court?
MS. SHROFF: I have, your Honor.

THE COURT: So do vou understand, Mr. El‘Bahnasawy,

i

that these Ffactors and objectives are what I will be involved
|

in considering in determining what is a fair and reasonable
sentence in your éase?'

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So, do vou realize also, Mr. El Bahnasawy,
that even if.you don't like the sentence that'I impoge, you
would not be able for that reason alone to withdraw today's
guilty plea? Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: In the plea agréement, there is a
sentence, if not exactly thisg but to the effect that the
sentence fo be iuposed upon the deflendant, Mr. El Bahnasawy, is
within the sole discretion of the Court.

Counsel first, do you agree with that statement?

MR. TQRNER: Yeg, we do, your’Honor;

THE COURT: And defénse goungel?

MS. SHROFF: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And, Mr. El Bahnasawy, do you agree with
that as wsll?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
: (212) 805-0300
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okéy.

Then the bottom line, szo to speak, Mr. El Bahnasawy,é
do you think you fully understand the consequences of pleadingi
guilty here today? |

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I do. :

t

THE COURT: Hag anyvbody threatened you or forced you:

ip.any way to plead guilty? ‘ %

THE DEFENDAWT: No.

THE COURT: Including your attorneys?

TEE DEFENDANT: Yes, no one.

THE COURT: Including them?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: So they did not threaten you or force you
to plead guilty; is that what you're saying?

THE DEFHENDANT: Yes. ‘

THE COURT} I referred before to the plea agreement.
I want to just make sure that you read it thoroughly and
carefully or at least considered it thoroughly and carefully
with your attorneyé before you signed it. The plea agreement
igs dated October 1ith, 2016, on the front page, even though I
think it wag signed yesterday, Cctober 12th. You went over
that carefully with your counsel before you signed it?

THE ﬁEFENDANT: Pardon?

THE COURT: I said, did you go over that plea

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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3

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS,

(21.2)

BOG-0300°

b.C.
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THE COURT:

1 S
(T want to make sure you understand that

ydur guilfy @lea-and conviction make 1t very likely that you
will be dgpoxted from the United States-and that that
deportation is likely and presumed to be mandatory, and that,
at a minimum, you axre a£ the risk of being deported or
suffering pthe% adveISe'immigration conseguences as-a result of
yvour plea and your conviction. Do you realize that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THﬁ COURT: Has anybody made_any promisze or inducement
that is causing you to plead guilty here today?

THE DEFENDANT: DNo.

THE COURT: Has anyone made a promige to you asg to
what your sentence in this matter will be?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Including any attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: No.
THE COURT: Now we'll turn to the government and ask

what, in summary, the government would be able to prove, what

evidence, et cetera, if the case were to have gone to trial %
i
|

instead of being rescived in thie plea. This is where you way
wish to discuss the elements of the various counts that I f
described.

MR. TURNER: Yes, your Honor.

In light of the fact that all of the counts in the
information pertéin,to a continuing course of conduct, i1f it's
okay with the Court, I1'1ll set forth the elemenés'of all of the
counts first and then state what the government's proof would
show if the matter went to trial.

THE COURT: That would be fine.

MR. TURNER: Your Honor, Count One of the information
charges a congpiracy to use a weapon of mass destruction in
violation Qf 18, U0.5.C., Secfion 2332a. The elements of that
offense are first that the defendaﬁt knowingly conspired to use
a weapon of mass destruction without lawful authority; second,
that the intended use of the weapon of mass destruction wasg
against persons or property within the United States; and;
third, that at least one of the ﬁurisdigtional requirements get
forth in subsection (a) (2} of Sectioﬁ 2332a 1g met, which

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-0300
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include any of the following: The mail or any facility of

interstate or Foreign commerce was used in furtherance of the

offense; the targeted property within the United States is usﬁd;

in interstate or foreign commerce or in an activity that
affects interstate oxr foreign commerce; any perpetrator i

traveled in, or caused another to travel in, interstate or

foreign commerce in furtherance of the offensa; or that the
offense affected or the results of the offense would have
affected interstate or foreign commerce.

The government notes that the term "weapon of mass
destruction" is defined, in subsection {(¢) of Section 2332a, to
include any destructive device as that term is defined in 18,
U.8.C., Section 921(a) (4), which defines destructive device to
iﬁclude any expiosive.or incendiary bomb or device similar.

Your Homor, with respect to Count One and each of the
conépiracy counts Cﬁarged in the information, the elements of a
congpiracy are: First, the existence of an agreement between
two or ﬁore persens to comuit the charged offense as alleged in
the information; and, seccnd, that Ehe defendant knowingly and
wlllfully became a member of the charged conspiracy.

Count Two charges a conspiracy to commit acts of
terrorism transcending national boundaries in violation of 18,
U.8.C., Section 2332b. The élements of that offense are:
First, that the defendant knowingly conspired to kill, maim,
commit an assault resulting in serious bodily injury or assault

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212} 805-0300
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. _ ‘t
with a dangerous weapon persons within the United States or té
create a substantial risk of serious bodily injufy'to another?
person by destroying or damaging a structure, conveyance or i
other real or personal property in the Unitgd States;'second,i
that the conduct involved in the offense transcended national%
boundaries; third, that tﬁe act in question, that is, the :
object of the conspirécy, violatéd the laws of any state or oﬁ
the United States; and, fourth, that at least one of the
jurisdictional requiremenﬁs get forth in subsection (b) of
Section 2332b is met, which include any oi the following: The
mail or any facility of interstate or forelgn commerce was used
in futheranee of the offense or that the offense would have
obstructed, delayed ou affected interstate or foreign commerce
if the offenge had been consummated.
Count Three charges a cénsPiracy to bomb a place of
public uge and public transportation system in violation of 18,
U.S.C., Section 2332f. The elements of that offense are:
First, that the defendant knowingly conspired to deliver,
place,‘discharge or detonate an explosive or other lethal
device in, into or against a place of public use 5r a public
transportation gystem; second, tﬁat the defendant did so with
the inteﬁt to cause death ox gerious bodily injury or té cause
extenaive destructicn of the place or system where such
destruction was likely to result in major economic loss; and,
third, that at least one of the jurisdictional reguirements set

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C..
{212y B05-0300
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[

!

Fforth in subsection (b) of Section 2332f is met, which includé
either of the following: That the offense took place.in the %

United States and a perpetrator is a national of another state
: I

or that the offense took place outside the United States and é
' |

perpetrator ig a national of the United States or a perpetrator:

i
is found in the United States.

Count Four of the information charges the defendant

. ‘with conmspiring to provide material support and resources to

terrorists in violation of 18, U.S.C., Section 2339A.

Count: Five, your Honor, charges a gubstantive
violation of that gtatute, that ig, providing and attempting to
provide material support. and resourceslto terrorists in |
violation of that statute, Section 2339A.

The elements of the charged violations of Sectioq
2339A are: Firet, that the defendant provided or attempted to
provide material support or resources and, in the case of Count

Four,‘that he conspired to do so; and the: second element is
that the defendant knew or intended that the support or
regources were to be used in preparation for, or in carxrying
out, a violation of any of the statutes that are listed in
subsection (a) of Section 233%A, which include each of the
statutes that is charged in Counts One through Three éf the
information, némely, 18, U.8.C., Sections 2332a and 2332b and
2332. -

Also, vyour Hohor, the term "material support or

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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|
resocurces' is defined in subsection (b) of Section 2339A to |
‘ i
include property, services and personnel, which way include tﬁei
defendant himgelf, 1
Count: S9ix of the information charges the defendant

with conspiring to provide material support and resources to a

- foreign terrorist organization, namely, ISIL, the Islamic Stab:ei

1

of Irag and the Levant, in violation of 18, U.S.C., Section

i
+
- . . ) ! .
23398, And Count Seven charges a substantive violation of that

statute, that is, providing, and attempting to provide,
matexial'support and rescurces to ISIL.

The elements of the charged violations of Section
23398 ate: First, that the defendant -provided, or attempted to
provide, material support or resources, as that term is defined
in Section 2335A, to,d designated foreign terrorist
organization, and, in thg cagse of Count Six, that he conspired
to do so; the second elément ig that the defendant knew that
the organization had been designated as a forelgn terrorist
organizétion or that the organization had engaged or was
engaging in ter?orist activity or terrorism; and, third, that
at least one of Lhe jurisdictional regquirements set forth in
gubsection (d) of Secltion 23398 ie met, WhiCh include either of
the following: That the offense occurred, in whole or in part,
in the United States or that the offense occurred in and
affected interstate and forelgn commerce.

Finally, your Honor, with respect to venue for each of

"aOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300

i
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i
the counts charged in the information, the government would {

need to establish by a preponderdnce of the evidence that ven&e
in the Southern District of New York is appropriate. %

THE COURT: And the time frame, I think, that you‘re%
referring to is the one that I did also, that is to say, earlﬁ

2016 to on or about May 21, 20167

!
1

MR, TURNEE: That's correct, your Honor, in or about |
early 2016 to the date of the defendant's arrest, which wag |
May 21lst of 2016.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. TURNER: Your Honor, I can proceed to the proof
if --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. TURNER: Your Honor, the government's proof 1n
this case includes, among other evidence, electronic'

communications, including communications between the defen&ant
and an undercover law enforcement officer; or QC; documentary
and physical evidence, including records and materials
evidencing the defendant's purchase and shipment of bomb-making
waterials; and law enforcement and other witness testimony.

" At trial, the government's evidence would prove beyond
a reagonable doubt, among othelr things, that between in or
about early 2016 and the defendant's arrzest, on May 21lst of
2016, the defendant conspired to, and did, provide material
support to ISIL, which has been a designated foreign terrorist

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 805-03200
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organization since 2004. g
In particular, the evidence would show that the
defendant, a Canadian citizen, participated in a conspiracy to

carry out terrorist attacks in New York City in support of

ISIL. The objectives of the plot included detomnating explosiv%‘

devices in the New York City Subway system and Times Square.

The evidence would show that the defendant purchaged mate;ials
on the Internet for the purpose of constructing‘such explosive%‘
devices and caused such materials to be shipped interstate.

The evidence would_élso show that the defendant, while residing
in Canada, engaged in electxonic communications using a
cellular telephone and the Intexnet with multiple
cocongpilrators and with the UC in furtherance of the plot. One
of those coconspiratqrs with whom the defendant communicated
was a ﬁ.s..citizen residing in Pakistam.

Ir the course of the conspiracy, the defendant
communicated with the UC in furtherance of the plot, knéwing
that the UC wag located in Manhattan, New York.

On May 21, 2016, the defendant traveled from Canada
into the United States for the purpose of carrying out the
planned attacks in New York Citf.

Finally, your‘Honor, the evidence would show that the
defendant acted'knowingly and intentionally and that he knew
what he was doing was unlawful,

THE COURT: Thank you.'

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) 8L5-0300
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1
MS. SHROFF: Your Honor, may I just have a second wiﬂh

%

the government?

E
|
THE COURT: VYes, sure. \ |
(Paussa) ;

. MS. SHROFF: Thank vou, your Honor. I appreciate it%

THE COURT: Now I'm going to turn back to =
Mr. E1 Bahnasawy and ask him, having listened to what the i
government had to say about what it thinks it would be able t%
prove if the case were to go to trial, and in light of the '
geries of questions that I have agked him and the answers that
he's inen: Do you, Mr. EL Bahnasaﬁy, at this time wish to
plead guilty or not guilty to these seven crimes sef forth in
the superseding information?

i DEFENDANT: I wish to plead guilty.

THE COURT: 8o, then would you tell me in your own
words -~ and if you could speak up so the court reporter can
gurely hear you -- what it is that makes you believe that you
are guilty of the seven offenses set forth in ﬁhe superseding
information.

THE DEFENDANT: In.the spring of 2016, I agreed with
others to carry oﬁt an attack in Times Square, to support ISIL;
gpecificaily, we agreed to try to set off a pomb in Times
Square. I'used the Tnternet and sent materialg through the
mail in furtherance of the conspiracy, and I also.traveled from
Canada to the United Statesg. |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
{212) B805-0300
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THE COURT: Okay, so you said the congpiracy, and i
there are seven crimes get forth in the information. i'm ot
gure that all of thoge are'covered by that étatement.

ﬁhat do you think, counsel for the government?

MR. TURNER: Your Honor, one guestion we would.

. i
respectfully ask the Court to pose ig whether an additional !
target of the attacks was the New York City Subway sgystem.

THE COURT: Okay. Let me come to that in a minute.
Do you think, though, that that statement covers all seven
offenses set forth in the superseding information, with the
addition of the New York City Subway gystem?

MR. TURNER: We do, your Honor. And we're also not
suggesting that the subway system ie necessarily necessary to
be suffidient. I will note that in setting forth the |
jurisdictional requirements, obviously, only one of those is
necegsary for each of the seven counts but, otherwise, we do
believe that it's sufficient, your Honor.

THE COURT: So vou believe it covers all of the
conspiracies alleged as well as the substantive crimes?

MR. TURNZR: We do, your Honor.

THE COURT: So, then let me pose that question to you,
Mr. EL Bahnasawy: Was one of the targets of your activity,
intended targets, the New York Ciéy Subway system?

THRE DEPENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Ms. Shroff“and Mr. E1l Bahnasawy, could I

SOUTHERN DISTRICYT REPORTERS, P.C.
{(212) 805-0300
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1 hear that statement of yours once again, just to wmake sure I %
2 undergtand it all? g‘
3 THE DEFENDANT: All right. In the spring of 2016, I

4 agreed with others to cérry $ut an attack in Times Square, tog
5 gupport ISIL; specifical}y, we agreed to try and set off a bom%.
6 in Times Square. I uged the Internet and sent materials E
7 through the mail in furtherance of the comspiracy, and I also!
8 traveled from Canada to the United States. ;
9 THE COURT: Okay. 1
10 pid you know that ISIL, the United States, was a

11 foreign terrorist organization?
12 . fHE DEFENDANT: Yes, I knew that.

13 ~ THE COURT: 'That satisfies we, if it does the
14 government, for a plea covering the seven countg in the

15 offense.
16 . ‘MR. TURNER: Your Honor, we would ask the Court to

17 inquire as to whether the defendant understood that what he was
18 doing was wrong and unlawful at the time that he was doing it.
15 THE COURT: Okay, that's a falr question.

20 - Mr. El Bahnasawy, did you understand that wha£ you
21 were daing and attempting to do was wrong and unlawful, at the
22 time you were attempting to commit these seven crimesg?

23 THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I did. ‘
24 THE COURT: Anything else?

25 MR. TURNER: WNothing from the goverament, your Honor.
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THE COURT: Okay.

Mr. E} Bahnacawy, are you pleading.guilty to these -
seven crimes charged because you are in fact guilty of each of
them? .

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 'i

THE CCURT: And does the government counsel agree th%t
there is a sufficient factual predicate for this gﬁilty plea?i

MR. TURNER: Yes, your Honor. '

TEE CCURT: And how about defense counsel?

MS. SHROFF; No, your Honor. We have discussed the
matter and the answer would be no. *

THE COURT: You believe that there is a sufficient
factual predicate for these gullty pleas?

MS. SHROFF: There's a sufficient factual basis, your
lHonor, and we have discussed the defenses that would possibly
play in, and to that the answer is mo.

THE COURT: I aéree also. It is the finding of this
Court, in U.S. v. Abdulrahman El Bahnasawy, that
Mr. El Bahnasawy is fully competent and capable of entering an
informed plea, that he is aware of the nature of the charges
againsF him and the conseguences of entering today's guilty
plea, and that the plea of guilty ig a knéwing and voluntary
plea supported by an independent basis in fact, supporting each
of the esgential elements of the seven offenses.

The plea is therefore accepted and, Mr. El Bahnasawy

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, ».C.
(212) BO05-0300 ’

% Public Defenders advised the Court that Ms, Shroff initially misheard the Court's question.
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' !
igs now adjudged guilty of these seven offenses, or crimes, seé:
l
1

'?rth in the superseding information.

Did coungel, starting with the government, wish to a@d
anything to‘today's pilea proceeding?

MR. TURNER: A few quick items, -your Honor:

First,
) the defgndant hag agreed to admit
the forfeiture allegations thét are set forth in the
information and i'm not sure tﬁat we have.covered that, rvour
Honor. So we would ask that the defendant acknowledge the
forfeiture and admit the Forfeiture allegations.

THE COURT: Okay. éo where in the plea agreement
exactly?

MR. TURNER: This is the second full paragraph om page
3, and the forfeiture allegations.age_Set forth at the last
page of the sugerseding information.

/

THE COURT: If vou could take a look at that,
Mr. EL Bahnasawy, withAcounsei, the government is talking about
the paragraph that begins, "The defendant further admits the
forfeiture ailegations with re?pect to Counts One through Seven
of the information and agrees to forfeit to the United States,
pursuant to Title 18, United States Code," and other sections
of the U.8. Code, "all right, title and interest in asszets,

SQUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, BP.C.
(212} B805-0300
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|

foreign and domestic," et cetera. Could you just go over thaﬁ-

s
i

paragraph and let me know if you understand its contents and if
vyoll agree to this forfeiture provision.

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, I understand and agree.

THE COURT: Did you have any other questions?
MR. TURNER: Not with respect to the piea, your Honor.

!
THE COURT: Okay. '

]
MR. TURNER: First, your Honor, in terms of sealing, |
the Court's sealing oxder does remain in effect, on consent.
And in 1ight of that order and pursuaﬁt to that order, we would
ask that the transcript of today's proceeding as well as the

superseding information and'any associated docket entries be

maintained under seal and that docketing be delayed.

SOUTHERW DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212} 805-0300
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'THE COURT: let me ask the
govarnmeﬁt‘if there's anything else you wish to add to today's
proceeding?

MR. TURNER: No, your Honor.

THE CéURT: How about the defense?

MS . S;ROFF: Mo, your Honor.

THE COURT:k Is the government satisfied witﬁ today's
plea allocution to the seven crimes set forth in the
superseding information?

MR. TURNER: Yes, youf Honor, we aré.

THE COURT: Is the defense also?

MS. SHROFF: Yeg, your Hopor.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: 'Mr. Kaminsky, you are?

MR.

‘THE
MS.
MR\
THEE

ME..

KAMINSKY: Yes, your Honor .

o
COURT: Okay. Anything else?

SHEOQFF: No, thank you, your Honor.
TURNER: No, your Honor. Thank you.
CéURT: Nice to see you all. Thanks.
T;RNER: Thank vou, Judge.

kK

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(zi2} 805-0300
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